### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION

Appellant(s),

v.

TITLEMAX OF NEVADA, INC. and TITLEBUCKS d/b/a TITLEMAX, a Nevada corporation,

Respondent(s).

Case No. 74335

District Court Case No. A-16-743134-J Electronically Filed Apr 20 2018 04:50 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT
Attorney General
WILLIAM J. MCKEAN
(Bar No. 06740)
Chief Deputy Attorney General
DAVID J. POPE
(Bar No.08617)
Senior Deputy Attorney General
VIVIENNE RAKOWSKY
(Bar No. 09160)
Deputy Attorney General

State of Nevada
Office of the Attorney General
555 East Washington Avenue
Suite 3900
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 486-3420 (phone)
(702) 486-3416 (fax)
Email address(es)
wmckean@ag.nv.gov
dpope@ag.nv.gov
vrakowsky@ag.nv.gov
Attorneys for Respondent

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| I.    | INTRODUCTION1   |   |  |  |  |
|-------|---|---|--|--|--|
| II.   | JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT5   |   |  |  |  |
| III.  | ROUTING STATEMENT6  |   |  |  |  |
| IV.   | ISS   | UES PRESENTED6  |  |  |  |
|       | A.  | Whether the District Courts order is contrary to the plain language of NRS 604A.445(3), clearly contrary to the expressed legislative intent and spirit of the legislation, leads the absurd results, renders statutory language meaningless and must be reversed |  |  |  |
|       | B.  | Whether TitleMax "willfully" exceeded the plain limits of NRS 604A.445(3), subjecting itself to NRS 604A.9006   |  |  |  |
| V.    | STA   | ATEMENT OF THE CASE6  |  |  |  |
| VI.   | STA   | ATEMENT OF FACTS7   |  |  |  |
| VII.  | BACKGROUND11  |   |  |  |  |
| VIII. | SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT14   |   |  |  |  |
| IX.   | ARGUMENT14  |   |  |  |  |
|       | A. Standard of Review14   |   |  |  |  |
|       | B. The District Court's order is contrary to plain statutory language, clearly contrary to the expressed legislative intent and spirit of the legislation, leads to absurd results and renders statutory language meaningless |   |  |  |  |
|       | C.  | TitleMax exceeded the plain limits of NRS 604A.445(3) and the ALJ properly found that it did so "Willfully"27   |  |  |  |
| X.    | СО  | NCLUSION33  |  |  |  |
|       | CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE34   |   |  |  |  |
|       | CERTICATE OF SERVICE36  |   |  |  |  |

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

| $\mathbf{C}$ | a | S | es |
|--------------|---|---|----|
|              |   |   |    |

| Attorney General v. Nevada Tax Commission,<br>124 Nev. 232, 240, 181 P.3d 675, 680 (2008)15                 |
|---|
| Board of County Com'rs of Clark County v. CMC of Nevada, Inc., 99 Nev. 739, 744, 670 P.2d 102, 105 (1983)17 |
| <i>In re Boggs-Rice Co.</i> , 66 F.2d 855, 858 (4th Cir. 1933)27  |
| Century Steel v. Division of Industrial Relations,<br>122 Nev. 584, 589, 137 P.3d 1155, 1159 (2006)31       |
| Champion Arms, LLC v. Van Haelst,<br>2012 WL 4511393 at 5-7   |
| Clark County v. S. Nevada Health Dist.,<br>128 Nev. 651, 658, 289 P.3d 212, 216 (2012)17, 27                |
| Clements v. Airport Authority of Washoe County,   |
| 111 Nev. 717, 722, 896 P.2d 458, 461 (1995)14, 24   |
| Griffith v. Gonzales-Alpizar  |
| 132 Nev, 373 P.3d 86, 88 (2016)26   |
| Hale v. Morgan,   |
| 584 P.2d 512, 517, 149 Cal.Rptr. 375, 396 (Cal. 1978)29   |
| Leven v. Frey,  |
| 123 Nev. 399, 405, 168 P.3d 712, 716 (2007)17   |
| May v. New York M. Picture Corp.  |
| 187 P. 785, 788, 45 Cal.App. 396, 404 (Cal. 1920)29   |
| Miller v. Burke,  |
| 124 Nev. 579, 590, 188 P.3d 1112, 1120 (2008)   |

| Pettinger v. Collection Agency Licensing Bureau,              |
|---|
| 208 Cal.App.2d 585, 588, 25 Cal.Rptr. 324, 327 (1962)29       |
| Savage v. Pierson,  |
| 123 Nev. 86, 89, 157 P.3d 697, 699 (2007)26                   |
| State Dept. of Business and Industry, Financial Inst. Div. v. |
| Dollar Loan Center, LLC,                                      |
| 134 Nev, 412 P.3d 30, 34 (Nev. 2018)                          |
| State, Div. of Ins. V. Stat Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Company,     |
| 116 Nev. 290, 293-94, 995 P.2d 482, 485 (2000)22              |
| State Indus. Ins. System v. Khweiss,                          |
| 108 Nev. 123, 126, 825 P.2d 218 (1992)20                      |
| State Tax Com'n v. American Home Shield of Nevada, Inc.,      |
| 127 Nev. 382, 388, 254 P.3d 601, 605 (2011)19                 |
| United States v. Murdock,                                     |
| 290 U.S. 389, 394 (1933)29, 30                                |
| We People Nevada ex rel, Angel v. Miller,                     |
| 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1171 (2008)26               |
| Wilson v. Security—First Nat. Bank, et al.,                   |
| 190 P.2d 975, 978, 84 Cal.App.2d 427, 431-432 (1948)29        |
| <u>Statutes</u>   |
| NRS 233B.13514  |
| NRS 233B.135(4)24   |
| NRS 604A.04524  |
| NRS 604A.06518, 23  |
| NRS 604A.07023, 24, 25  |

| NRS 604A.0908  |
|--|
| NRS 604A.1208  |
| NRS 604A.210passim   |
| NRS 604A.410(2)(c) and (g)8  |
| NRS 604A.410(2)(f)24   |
| NRS 604A.445(1)12, 16  |
| NRS 604A.445(2)passim  |
| NRS 604A.445(3)passim  |
| NRS 604A.47524   |
| NRS 604A.48525   |
| NRS 604A.56024   |
| NRS 604A.9006, 14, 28, 30  |
| NRS 604A.900(1)30, 31  |
| NRS 604A.900(2)(a)31   |
| Other Authorities  |
| Assembly Bill 163 (2017)3  |
| Assembly Bill 384, Sect. 23 (2005)20   |
| Minutes of the Meeting of the Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor, April 5, 2007, p. 3925 |
| Minutes of the Meeting of the Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor, April 11, 2007, p. 393 |

| Minutes of the Meeting of the Senate Committee on Commerce and Labor, May 15, 2007, p. 2316                                 |
|---|
| Testimony of Assemblywoman Barbara K Buckley, Regarding AB 384, Senate Committee on Commerce and Labor, May 6, 2005, p. 7-9 |
| Webster's II New College Dictionary, 487 (1999)23   |
| Webster's II New College Dictionary, 919 (1999)15   |

## I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This case is about a Nevada licensed lender breaking rules that are as plain as a speed limit sign. NRS 604A.445(3), the controlling statute, serves as a "posted speed limit" for title loans. It allows the original term of a title loan to be up to 210 days, provided the loan is structured to have "installment payments" that are calculated to "ratably and fully amortize the entire amount of principal and interest" and the loan is "not subject to any extension" or "balloon payment." Giving meaning to all of the statutory language, NRS 604A.445(3) limits the amount of interest to 210 days of ratably and fully amortized interest to prevent excess interest from being charged.

Though the lender and customer agree to an applicable interest rate, the contract rate of interest is 210 days of ratably and fully amortized interest at the agreed rate. By allowing TitleMax to charge interest during what the District Court deemed a "grace period", the District Court has rendered the "ratably and fully amortize the entire amount of principle and interest" language meaningless and has allowed TitleMax to charge "additional interest" contrary to the prohibitions in NRS 604A.445(3), as well as the prohibitions in NRS 604A.210. In other words, more interest is charged than the Legislature intended.

Table Number 1 is an example of a compliant 210-day title loan based on figures from a TitleMax loan for \$2,820.00 at 194.55% annual percentage rate

Table No. 1

Legal Title Loan for \$2,820 at 194.55%

| Month | Payment      | Principal |            |
|-------|--------------|-----------|------------|
|       | <del>-</del> | Balance   |            |
|       | Principal    | Interest  |            |
| 1     | \$233.98     | \$464.08  | \$2,586.02 |
| 2     | \$313.67     | \$384.39  | \$2,272.35 |
| 3     | \$324.10     | \$373.96  | \$1,948.25 |
| 4     | \$387.78     | \$310.28  | \$1,560.47 |
| 5     | \$441.26     | \$256.80  | \$1,119.21 |
| 6     | \$519.81     | \$178.25  | \$599.40   |
| 7     | \$599.40     | \$98.69   | 00.00      |

TOTAL FINANCE CHARGE \$2,066.45

Table No. 2

Unlawful "GPPDA" Loan \$2,820.00 at 194.55%

| Month | Payment   | Amount   | Balance    |
|-------|-----------|----------|------------|
|       | Principal | Interest |            |
| 1     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 2     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 3     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 4     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 5     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 6     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 7     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 8     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 7     | 00.00     | \$450.92 | \$2,820.00 |
| 8     | \$402.86  | 00.00    | \$2,417.14 |
| 9     | \$402.86  | 00.00    | \$2,014.28 |
| 10    | \$402.86  | 00.00    | \$1,611.42 |
| 11    | \$402.86  | 00.00    | \$1,208.56 |
| 12    | \$402.86  | 00.00    | \$805.70   |
| 13    | \$402.86  | 00.00    | \$402.84   |
| 14    | \$402.84  | 00.00    | 00.00      |

TOTAL FINANCE CHARGE \$3,156.44

The loan in Table 1 is statutorily compliant because it is limited to 210 days, with seven monthly ratably and fully amortized installment payments. The total interest (or finance charge) paid by the consumer borrower is \$2,066.45. This amount of interest is calculated using the 194.55% APR agreed upon by the parties, disclosed to the borrower in accordance with the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"), and based

on installment payments that ratably and fully amortize the entire principal and interest within 210 days. <sup>1</sup> A loan term longer than 210 days, *i.e.* any additional days subject to interest - such as an extension or an extension called a grace period, exceeds the statutory "posted speed limit."

Table Number 2, in contrast, is one of the non-compliant Grace Period Payment Deferment Agreements ("GPPDAs") offered by TitleMax.<sup>2</sup> APP 001793-001796. The duration of this loan is approximately 420 days - double the statutorily-allowed period. APP 001794. During the life of the loan, the borrower makes monthly payments in different amounts, not equal installment payments - first with seven (7) interest only payments in the amount of \$450.92, and later with seven (7) principle payments in the amount of \$402.86 - resulting in a static principle balance during the first 210 days of the loan.<sup>3</sup> The structure, therefore, violates the plain

With regard to an NRS 604A.445(3) loan, the agreed upon interest rate is limited by the "ratably and fully amortize the entire amount of principle and interest" language. Stated differently, this language does not have meaning unless the lender is limited to 210 days of ratably and fully amortized interest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Assembly Bill 163 (2017) (prohibiting the granting of a grace period that requires the signing of a new agreement or the adding of an addendum or new term).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Reducing the principle with each payment was one of the evils that the legislation was correcting. See Minutes of the Meeting of the Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor, April 11, 2007, p. 39 ("It clarifies provisions on title loans to ensure that the principal is being paid down during extension periods. There are some other technical changes. I worked with the people who support reasonable regulation of the industry. The high-interest lenders who were in opposition still oppose this bill with the amendments. In my opinion, they will not be satisfied unless they are allowed to charge anywhere from 300 to 900 percent interest for a

letter of NRS 604A.445(3).

The damage to the borrower is noteworthy. At the rate of 194.55% per annum, the borrower makes a monthly interest-only payment for seven (7) months - each of which is calculated by multiplying the entire principle (rather than a reducing principle) by the agreed upon interest rate. Upon satisfying the interest obligation during this timeframe, the customer finally makes a monthly payment toward principal and does so for a total of seven (7) months. If the borrower completely satisfies the interest obligation during the first seven (7) months, TitleMax unlawfully collects \$1,089.099 in "additional interest" charges (\$3,156.44 interest paid under GPPDA minus \$2,066.45 interest disclosed to the borrower). It is "additional interest" because the principle does not reduce with each payment and the customer keeps paying unamortized interest on the entire principle, which is substantially more than disclosed to the customer in the TILA. Moreover, if the borrower defaults during the last seven (7) payments, the borrower will have paid all of the interest, including the additional interest, and will still owe the entire principle.

prolonged period of time. I believe that practice is abusive, and I would never agree to support such a provision."). Here, the GPPDAs allow the principle to remain the same amount for seven months, with no reduction, which is clearly contrary to the legislative intent and leads to the absurd result of allowing TitleMax to do exactly what the Legislature prohibited by including the amortization requirement along with prohibiting extensions and balloon payments.

This is not a case of an operator asserting they didn't see the posted limit. Rather, it is a case where the limit was plainly posted, read, and exceeded. There is simply no ambiguity in the relevant statutes requiring clarification through the promulgation of a regulation. As discussed in greater detail below, TitleMax has to ignore the "ratably and fully amortize" language, as well as the prohibition of extensions and balloon payments, in order to purposefully misconstrue the term "grace period" as defined in NRS 604A.210.<sup>4</sup> In disregard of the most fundamental rules of statutory construction, TitleMax manufactures an ambiguity where none exists. Surprisingly, the District Court erroneously ratified TitleMax's actions.

Contrary to TitleMax's assertions and the District Court's order, this case is about a licensee who willfully charged interest in excess of the posted speed limit by converting legal title loans to unlawful GPPDAs which did not amortize the entire amount of principal and interest within 210 days.

## II. <u>JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT</u>

This court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 233B.150. The District Court's order being appealed was entered on September 21, 2017 and notice of the entry of the order was filed on September 22, 2017. The notice of appeal was timely filed on October 19, 2017. NRAP 4(a)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> NRS 604A.445(3).

#### III. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is brought pursuant to NRS 233B.150 and is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals as the agency decision does not involve a "tax, water or public utilities commission determination[]." NRAP 17(b)(4); NRAP 17(a)(9). This court could consider retaining this matter pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(14) on the basis that there is "a question of statewide public importance."

#### IV. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

- A. Whether the District Court's order is contrary to the plain language of NRS 604A.445(3), clearly contrary to the expressed legislative intent and spirit of the legislation, leads to absurd results, renders statutory language meaningless and must be reversed.
- B. Whether TitleMax "willfully" exceeded the plain limits of NRS 604A.445(3) and NRS 604A.210, subjecting itself to NRS 604A.900.

## V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

This is an appeal of the Eighth Judicial District Court's order granting TitleMax's petition for judicial review brought pursuant to Chapter 233B of the NRS. TitleMax sought judicial review of the Administrative Law Judge's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision (ALJ's Decision") finding that TitleMax had charged additional interest and extended the loans through the use of the GPPDAs. The District Court reversed and vacated the ALJ's Decision, determining that NRS 604A.210 allows a licensee to charge interest in excess of the amortized interest contained in each calculated installment payment contrary to the plain

language of NRS 604A.445(3). Because the District Court's decision is contrary to the plain statutory language and spirit of the legislation, leads to absurd results and renders statutory language meaningless, it is clearly erroneous and must be reversed.

## VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant facts are supported by substantial evidence and not subject to any legitimate dispute. The Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") found that TitleMax, in its initial offering to a customer, enters into a statutorily-compliant 210-day loan. APP 016961-016962. In so doing, TitleMax clearly understands the statutory lending limit, or posted speed limit. In this regard, the ALJ describes a representative loan transaction involving Customer Esguerra on January 17, 2015. APP 016963 (describing the transaction at APP 001715-001735). The principal amount of that loan was \$5,800 with an APR of 133.7129 percent. *Id.*; APP 001716. The following table depicts how the payments would be ratably and fully amortized within 210 days.

Legal Title Loan for \$5,800 at 133.7129%

| Month  | Payment     | Interest    | Principal   |
|--------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| 1      | \$ 1,230.45 | \$ 705.82   | \$ 524.63   |
| 2      | \$ 1,230.45 | \$ 564.65   | \$ 665.80   |
| 3      | \$ 1,230.45 | \$ 520.96   | \$ 709.49   |
| 4      | \$ 1,230.45 | \$ 403.32   | \$ 827.13   |
| 5      | \$ 1,230.45 | \$ 312.57   | \$ 917.88   |
| 6      | \$ 1,230.45 | \$ 201.65   | \$ 1,028.80 |
| 7      | \$ 1,230.46 | \$ 104.19   | \$ 1,126.27 |
| Totals | \$ 8,613.16 | \$ 2,813.16 | \$ 5,800.00 |

#### APP 001716.

The forgoing installment payments are calculated to "ratably and fully amortize" the entire amount of principal and interest within the limit of 210 days as required by NRS 604A.445(3). As the outstanding principle decreases a lesser amount of each monthly payment is applied to interest and a greater amount is applied toward the principle. Consistent with this calculation, TitleMax informed Customer Esguerra, in the requisite TILA disclosures, 5 that the total finance charge (interest and fees) he would be responsible for was \$2,813.16, for a total amount to be paid of \$8,613.16 through seven (7) monthly payments of principal and interest. APP 016963:3-5; APP 001716.

For a very obvious reason (*i.e.*, more interest profit), however, TitleMax is not satisfied with operating within the "posted speed limit." Instead, as the ALJ found, where a customer is approved for the 210 day loan, TitleMax also offers the noncompliant GPPDAs. APP 016962. Again, the transaction involving Customer Esguerra is representative.<sup>6</sup> APP 016963 (describing the transaction at APP 001715-001735).

TitleMax "converted" Customer Esguerra's statutorily-compliant loan (dated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> TILA disclosures are required by both state and federal law. NRS 604A.090; NRS 604A.120; NRS 604A.410(2)(c) and (g).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> During the administrative hearing, TitleMax asserted that this type of loan, along with the conversion to the GPPDA, is all they do – they don't do other types of loans. APP 001328:7-10 (Hr'g Tr. 477:7-10).

Unlawful GPPDA for \$5,800 at 133.7129%

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