Case No. 74335

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

THE STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION,

Appellant,

vs.

TITLEMAX OF NEVADA, INC., AND TITLEBUCKS D/B/A TITLEMAX, a Nevada Corporation,

Respondent,

Electronically Filed Jul 23 2018 08:44 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable JOE HARDY, District Judge District Court Case No. A-16-743134-J

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The FID seeks to apply the wrong statute. Grace periods under NRS Chapter 604A are explicitly governed by NRS 604A.070 and NRS 604A.210, the statutory provisions that address grace periods. Grace periods are not governed by NRS 604A.445(3), which governs the

⁴ While the FID suggests that an agency's conclusions of law that are closely related to the agency's view of the facts are entitled to deference (AOB at 14), that standard does not apply here. (73 App. 17224–25.) This Court has already concluded that only pure statutory interpretation is needed to determine whether the interest formula in the GPDA violates either NRS 604A.210 or NRS 604A.445. *TitleMax I*, Doc. No. 17-33587 at 5. And the FID itself conceded that "[t]he facts necessary to resolve this judicial review are not subject to any legitimate dispute." (73 App. 17197.)

"original term" of a title loan and does not mention grace periods. NRS 604A.210 is an exception to the requirements of NRS 604A.445(3). This is clear both from the statutory language and from common sense. It does not make sense to apply the requirements of NRS 604A.445(3), such as amortization, to grace periods. By definition, a grace period is a period of deferment on principal payments, so principal and interest could not be "amortized."

As the district court correctly held, TitleMax complied with NRS 604A.210, the applicable statute for grace periods. Both the language and the legislative history of NRS 604A.210 make it clear that the prohibition against "additional interest" prevents lenders from charging a higher interest rate or compound interest during a grace period, but it does not forbid *any* interest. In fact, the bill that became NRS 604A.210 originally would have prohibited charging "any interest," but that was changed in the final version to prohibit just "additional interest." The Legislature made that amendment to clarify that lenders could charge the original contractual rate of interest during a grace period—just not a higher interest rate or compounded interest. While the FID proposed a regulation imposing the interpretation it seeks to enforce now, that

17

regulation was never passed. And the FID's recent attempt to change the statutory language did not work either; instead, the legislature adopted TitleMax's interpretation in a clarifying amendment. TitleMax's Grace Period Payments Deferment Agreement (GPDA) complied with NRS 604A.210 by charging only the contractual rate of interest during a grace period.

Even assuming that reasonable minds could differ as to the meaning of the statutory provisions, TitleMax did not willfully violate any provision of NRS Chapter 604A. The district court agreed with TitleMax's interpretation, showing that TitleMax's position was not objectively unreasonable. At a minimum, the district court was correct to reverse the administrative decision imposing tens of millions of dollars in sanctions on TitleMax.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE REQUIREMENTS OF NRS 604A.445(3) DO NOT APPLY TO GRACE PERIODS

The FID is simply arguing the wrong statute in relying on NRS 604A.445(3), rather than NRS 604A.210 and 604A.070. While the FID

claims that this case is as easy as looking at a speed limit sign, the agency is looking at the wrong sign.

A. The Plain Language of the Statutes Makes Clear That a Grace Period under NRS 604A.210 Is an Exception to the Requirements of NRS 604A.445(3)

1. NRS 604A.445(3)'s General Rule

At issue in these proceedings are various provisions of NRS

Chapter 604A.⁵ The FID relies on a general provision, NRS

604A.445(3), which by its express language applies only to the "original

term" of a 210-day loan:

3. The original term of a title loan may be up to 210 days if:

(a) The loan provides for payments in installments;

(b) The payments are calculated to ratably and fully amortize the entire amount of principal and interest payable on the loan;

(c) The loan is not subject to any extension; and

(d) The loan does not require a balloon payment of any kind.

⁵ Chapter NRS 604A was recently amended in 2017. These changes clarify the provisions at issue, as will be discussed *infra*, but the citations here are to the provisions in effect before 2017.

NRS 604A.445(3).

2. The Exception for "Grace Period" in NRS 604A.210 Controls this Case

As the district court concluded, however, TitleMax relies on an

exception. NRS 604A.210 makes clear that "the provisions of this

chapter do not prohibit . . . a grace period" if certain conditions are met:

The provisions of this chapter do not prohibit a licensee from offering a customer a grace period on the repayment of a loan or an extension of a loan, except that the licensee shall not charge the customer:

1. Any fees for granting such a grace period; or

2. Any additional fees or additional interest on the outstanding loan during such a grace period.

NRS 604A.210. For a grace period, the licensee cannot charge a fee to

grant it or "additional interest" during it.

3. The Definition of "Grace Period" in NRS 604A.070 Underscores that NRS 604A.210 Controls

NRS 604A.070 defines "grace period" to mean "any period of

deferment offered gratuitously by a licensee to a customer if the licensee

complies with the provisions of NRS 604A.210." In other words, if a

grace period complies with NRS 604A.210, it is a grace period.

4. The Definition of "Extension" in NRS 604A.065 Expressly Excludes a "Grace Period"

The FID claims that the GPDA is an extension, which is prohibited under NRS 604A.445(3). But the definition of "extension" under NRS 604A.065 expressly excludes a grace period under NRS 604A.210 and 604A.070:

> 1. "Extension" means any extension or rollover of a loan beyond the date on which the loan is required to be paid in full under the original terms of the loan agreement, regardless of the name given to the extension or rollover.

> 2. The term does not include a grace period.

NRS 604A.065 (emphasis added). So, while extensions are not allowed under NRS 604A.445(3), a grace period complying with NRS 604A.210 is not an extension, and can never be treated as such.

To determine if the GPDA is a grace period, and therefore an exception to NRS 604A.445(3), this Court needs to examine NRS 604A.210 and 604A.070, not NRS 604A.445(3).

B. NRS 604A.445(3) Does Not Govern Grace Periods and <u>Thus Does Not Apply to the GPDA</u>

The FID's core position is that TitleMax's grace period violated the general rule of NRS 604A.445(3). Indeed, the agency states the issue presented on the statutory interpretation arguments as "[w]hether the [d]istrict [c]ourt's order is contrary to the plain language of NRS 604A.445(3)" (AOB at 6.) But the FID is focusing on the wrong statute, the general rule instead of the specific NRS 604A.210 exception.

As the district court recognized, under the plain language of NRS 604A.445(3), the 210-day limit applies only to the original term of the loan; that subsection refers to and governs the original term of the loan, not grace periods. (74 App. 17414, 17416–17.)

NRS 604A.445(3) does not set a maximum time period on a loan. It does not say that a title loan can never be longer than 210 days. Rather, by providing that the "original term" of a title loan can be up to 210 days, the statute contemplates that a title loan can be of longer duration if a "grace period" is included under NRS 604A.210. While NRS 604A.445(3) prohibits "extensions" of a 210-day title loan, the definition of "extension" specifically excludes grace periods. NRS 604A.065(2).

The requirements of NRS 604A.445(3) thus do not apply to grace periods, and TitleMax did not violate NRS 604A.445(3) by offering the GPDA to its customers.

C. NRS 604A.445(3) Is Not a "Specific" Statute that Controls over NRS 604A.210

The FID argues that NRS 604A.445(3) controls because it is a "specific" statute governing 210-day title loans, claiming that subsection 3 is an "exception" to NRS 604A.445(1), which allows for 30-day loans. (AOB at 11–12, 25.) But that is just wrong.

There are two types of auto title loans under NRS 604A.445. Subsection (1) provides for a 30-day loan, which can be extended six times for a total of 210 days, and subsection (3) provides for a 210-day loan. They are two separate categories, and one is not an exception to the other. A grace period under NRS 604A.210 is an exception to both.

Under the FID's reading of NRS Chapter 604A, the grace period provided for in NRS 604A.210 could never be an exception to either form of title loan, or any other type of loan. But the FID is wrong. The grace period is an exception to any general provision defining a loan. NRS 604A.210 expressly states, "The provisions of this chapter [604A] do not prohibit a licensee from offering a customer a grace period on the repayment of a loan or an extension of a loan"

D. Amortization under NRS 604A.445(3) Is Not a <u>Requirement for Grace Periods</u>

As the FID acknowledged, there is no amortization requirement for grace periods. (4 App. 882, 5 App. 983, 6 App. 1270; *see also* 5 App. 1096–97 ("Q. . . . [T]here's no requirement that the grace period be fully amortized; correct? A. Correct.").)

Requiring amortization during a grace period, or a period of *deferment* on principal payments, is nonsensical. If no payments are being made on the principal, it makes no sense to "ratably and fully amortize the entire amount of principal and interest payable on the loan." *Cf.* NRS 604A.445(3)(b).

E. The ALJ and the FID Are Wrong that No Title Loan Can Exceed 210 Days

NRS 604A.445(3) does not say that a title loan can never be longer than 210 days. NRS 604A.445(3) stands in contrast to provisions like NRS 604A.408(3), which prohibits establishing or extending the period for repayment of a deferred deposit or high-interest loan "for a period
that exceeds 90 days after the date of origination of the loan." If the Legislature had wanted to set a maximum time limit on a title loan, it knew how to do so.⁶

If no title loan could ever be longer than 210 days, then there could never be a grace period on a 210-day title loan. But that is not what NRS 604A provides. Rather, by providing that the "original term" of a title loan may be up to 210 days and prohibiting only extensions, NRS 604A.445(3) contemplates that a title loan can be of longer duration if a "grace period" is included under NRS 604A.210.

Indeed, the FID conceded that the mere length of the repayment period under the GPDA was not a violation of any law and that a grace period could be of unlimited duration. (5 App. 1017, 1077–78; 6 App. 1247–49; 7 App. 1516.)

⁶ Dep't of Taxation v. DaimlerChrysler Servs. N. Am., LLC, 121 Nev. 541, 548, 119 P.3d 135, 139 (2005) ("Here, the Legislature could have clearly provided [the contended result], but it did not do so."); see also Jama v. Immigration & Customs Enf't, 543 U.S. 335, 341 (2005) ("We do not lightly assume that [the Legislature] has omitted from its adopted text requirements that it nonetheless intends to apply, and our reluctance is even greater when [the Legislature] has shown elsewhere in the same statute that it knows how to make such a requirement manifest.").

NRS 604A.445(3) does not proscribe a maximum time limit on title loans. Nor does it proscribe a maximum time period during which interest can accrue. It merely sets the parameters for the "original term" of a 210-day loan.

II.

TITLEMAX DID NOT CHARGE "ADDITIONAL INTEREST" <u>UNDER NRS 604A.210(2)</u>

TitleMax's GPDA complied with the statutory provisions governing grace periods, NRS 604A.070 and NRS 604A.210.

In the district court, the dispute between the parties focused on the meaning of the phrase "additional interest" in NRS 604A.210(2). Under the plain language of NRS 604A.210, which the district court held to be unambiguous, the word "additional" preceding "interest" means something more than the original contract rate of interest provided for in the loan agreement.

Words in statutes must have meaning.⁷ The FID's position was that "any" interest would be additional interest. This interpretation

⁷ S. Nevada Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark Cty., 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005) (courts must interpret statutes "in a way that would not render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc. v. Nevada State Labor Comm'n, 117 Nev. 835,

ignores both the rule that each word must have meaning and the legislative history of that particular wording.

A. NRS 604A.210(2) Precludes Only "Additional Interest," Not Just "Any" Interest, during a Grace Period

If the Legislature had intended that the lender could not charge the standard contract interest rate during a grace period, it would have said so. The Nevada Legislature could have prohibited charging "any interest" during a grace period, but it did not. *Contrast* NRS 604A.210(1) (prohibiting "[a]ny fees"), *with* NRS 604A.210(2) (prohibiting "additional interest").⁸ Had the Legislature intended that the total "amount" of interest could not exceed the amount stated in the original loan document, it knew how to say so.⁹

⁹ See NRS 604A.435(1)(e) (prohibiting a deferred deposit lender from accepting a "check or written authorization for an electronic transfer of money for any deferred deposit loan in an amount which exceeds the total of payments set forth in the disclosure statement required by the Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z that is provided to the customer") (emphasis added); *DaimlerChrysler*, 121 Nev. at 548, 119 P.3d at 139 ("Here, the Legislature could have clearly provided [the contended result], but it did not do so."); see also Jama, 543 U.S. at 341.

^{841, 34} P.3d 546, 550 (2001) ("[T]his court will read each sentence, phrase, and word to render it meaningful within the context of the purpose of the legislation.").

⁸ *Russello v. U.S.*, 464 U.S. 16, 23 (1983) ("Had Congress intended [the contended result], it presumably would have done so expressly as it did in the immediately following subsection").

TitleMax charged the contract interest during the grace period, but not "additional" interest beyond that. While the original contract interest rate is applied to the "outstanding loan" during the first seven months, interest is not compounded, nor does the interest rate increase. Rather, interest at the same rate as specified in the original loan agreement accrues and is charged for the first 210-day period. After that, no interest at all is charged for the next seven months.

If no "additional interest" meant that no interest could be charged during a grace period, then the word "additional" would be meaningless. "Additional" must have a meaning different from "any."¹⁰ The prohibition on "additional interest" means that simple interest at the rate specified in the original loan agreement is allowed to accrue.

The district court correctly concluded that NRS 604A.210 is unambiguous: "the prohibition on 'additional interest' means a licensee cannot charge interest at a *rate* of interest higher than that specified in the loan agreement." (74 App. 17418.)

¹⁰ See Coast Hotels, 117 Nev. at 841, 34 P.3d at 550 ("[T]his court will read each sentence, phrase, and word to render it meaningful within the context of the purpose of the legislation.").

B. The 2005 Legislative History Confirms that the Legislature Did Not Mean to Preclude <u>Interest During the Grace Period</u>

1. It is Appropriate to Consult the Legislative History

The FID previously acknowledged that NRS 604A.210 was ambiguous and could be interpreted precisely as TitleMax has interpreted it and did nothing to foreclose such an interpretation. (72 App. 17079; 6 App. 1222.) In the face of ambiguity, consideration of the statute's legislative history is proper. *See Nev. Dep't of Corrs. v. York Claims Servs.*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 25, 348 P.3d 1010, 1013 (2015); Café *Moda v. Palma*, 128 Nev. 78, 82, 272 P.3d 137, 140 (2012); State Farm *Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Comm'r of Ins.*, 114 Nev. 535, 541, 958 P.2d 733, 736 (1998) (considering legislative history where term was "reasonably susceptible to varying interpretations").

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